LIBRARY OF PARLIAMENT BIBLIOTHÈQUE DU PARLEMENT



In-depth reads on Canadian topics

THE OPIOID CRISIS IN CANADA

Publication No. 2021-23-E

6 January 2022

Laura Hatt

Parliamentary Information, Education and Research Services

AUTHORSHIP

6 January 2022 Laura Hatt

Legal and Social Affairs Division

ABOUT THIS PUBLICATION

Library of Parliament HillStudies provide in-depth studies of policy issues. They feature historical background, current information and references, and often anticipate the emergence of the issues they examine. They are prepared by Parliamentary Information, Education and Research Services, which carries out research for and provides information and analysis to parliamentarians and Senate and House of Commons committees and parliamentary associations in an objective, impartial manner.

This publication was prepared as part of the Library of Parliament's research publications program, which includes a set of publications, introduced in March 2020, addressing the COVID-19 pandemic.

© Library of Parliament, Ottawa, Canada, 2022

The Opioid Crisis in Canada (HillStudies)

Publication No. 2021-23-E

Ce document est également publié en français.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1	INTRODUCTION1
2	MEASURING THE OPIOID CRISIS1
2.1	Deaths2
2.2	Hospitalizations4
2.3	Emergency Medical Services Responses4
2.4	Effect on National Life Expectancy4
2.5	Use of Prescription Opioids4
2.6	Prevalence of Fentanyl and Fentanyl Analogues5
2.7	Naloxone Distribution and Use5
2.8	Economic Impacts
3	COVID-19 AND THE OPIOID CRISIS
4	RECOGNIZING DIVERSE EXPERIENCES
4.1	Age7
4.2	Sex and Gender
4.3	Indigenous Identity8
5	FEDERAL RESPONSE TO THE OPIOID CRISIS
5.1	Federal Jurisdiction over Health Matters9
5.2	Response from the Federal Government10
5.3	Response from the Parliament of Canada10

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Opioid-related harms have reached crisis proportions in many countries, including Canada. Almost 23,000 Canadians died due to apparent opioid toxicity between January 2016 and March 2021. Many other people faced life-threatening medical emergencies or other harms. These harms have been linked to many causes, including opioid-prescribing practices and the presence of very potent opioids such as fentanyl and fentanyl analogues in the drug supply. The COVID-19 pandemic has further worsened outcomes. The opioid crisis has touched Canadians from all walks of life, although it has not done so equally: people with certain identities, including men and Indigenous people, have been disproportionately harmed. In response to the crisis, the federal government has made investments and launched a variety of initiatives. Parliament has also addressed the issue by enacting legislation and proposing a range of other measures.

THE OPIOID CRISIS IN CANADA

1 INTRODUCTION

Opioids are substances with pain-relieving properties. They include compounds extracted from opium poppy seeds and synthetic and semisynthetic compounds with similar properties and the ability to interact with opioid receptors in the brain.¹

Opioids can refer to both approved prescription medicines and to illicit "street" (or non-pharmaceutical) drugs. In Canada, pharmaceutical opioids are primarily prescribed to treat pain.² Commonly prescribed opioids include codeine, oxycodone, hydromorphone, fentanyl, morphine and tramadol.³

However, opioid use can cause harm. Individuals who use opioids can experience long-term adverse health outcomes, such as liver damage, increased tolerance (meaning that a larger dose is required to achieve the same effects), worsening pain or withdrawal symptoms, among others.⁴ Individuals can also use opioids in ways that are considered problematic, such as by using an opioid that was not prescribed to them or by using a prescribed opioid medicine in a manner other than as directed by a health professional, which can increase the risk of harm.⁵ Some people who use opioids develop opioid use disorder. Like other substance use disorders, opioid use disorder is a treatable medical condition, although many people face challenges in accessing treatment.⁶ If an individual takes too much of an opioid, they may experience breathing difficulties, unconsciousness or death.⁷ In Canada and other countries, opioid-related harms have reached crisis proportions.⁸

This HillStudy offers an introduction to selected health aspects of the opioid crisis in Canada. It includes some key statistics, considerations related to the impact of the crisis on different groups of people, and information about recent federal initiatives and activities in the Parliament of Canada intended to address the crisis.

2 MEASURING THE OPIOID CRISIS

There has been a considerable increase in the use of prescription opioids since the 1980s. Increased prescription use has been followed by more reports of harms associated with prescription opioid use and an increased rate in the use of nonprescription opioids. By 2016, eight Canadians were dying from opioid-related toxicity each day.⁹ The opioid crisis can be measured in many ways. The sections below highlight a few national statistics, which, while not exhaustive, constitute a starting point for understanding the scope and nature of the opioid crisis in Canada.

2.1 DEATHS

The federal–provincial/territorial Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses publishes data on some opioid-related harms, including deaths. Approximately 22,828 people in Canada died due to apparent opioid toxicity between January 2016 and March 2021. In the first quarter of 2021 alone, 1,772 Canadians died of apparent opioid toxicity.¹⁰

The annual total of apparent opioid toxicity deaths in Canada has increased over time, as shown in Figure 1. In 2020, 6,306 people died of apparent opioid toxicity, which is an average of about 17 deaths per day. Between 2018 and the first quarter of 2021, over half of opioid deaths also involved a stimulant.¹¹ However, the trends have been different for accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths and intentional (suicide) apparent opioid toxicity deaths. While deaths from accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths have increased, the annual number of deaths from intentional apparent opioid toxicity has decreased each year between 2017 and 2020.¹²



Figure 1 – Annual Total of Apparent Opioid Toxicity Deaths in Canada, 2016–2020

Source: Government of Canada, "Graphs: Number of total apparent opioid toxicity deaths in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.

Apparent opioid toxicity deaths have not been equally distributed across the country. Western Canada has been the most affected region since 2016, although rates of opioid toxicity deaths have climbed in other parts of the country, including in Ontario. In 2020, as illustrated by Figure 2, British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan experienced the highest rates of apparent opioid toxicity deaths per 100,000 population, and 85% of all apparent opioid toxicity deaths took place in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario.¹³

Finally, the proportion of apparent opioid toxicity deaths involving non-pharmaceutical substances compared to pharmaceutical products increased in 2020 over the previous two years. In 2018 and 2019, non-pharmaceutical opioids accounted for 66% of deaths. In 2020, they accounted for 76% of apparent opioid toxicity deaths, and in the first half of 2021, 83% of deaths.¹⁴



Figure 2 – Number and Rate of Total Apparent Opioid Toxicity Deaths, by Province or Territory, 2020

Source: Government of Canada, "Maps: Number and rates (per 100,000 population) of total apparent opioid toxicity deaths by province and territory in 2020," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 1 December 2021 (select "2020" from the drop-down menu).

2.2 HOSPITALIZATIONS

There were 27,604 opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations across Canada (excluding Quebec) between January 2016 and the first half of 2021,¹⁵ including 5,240 cases in 2020, the highest reported number since 2016.¹⁶ While opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations outnumbered apparent opioid toxicity deaths between 2016 and 2019, in 2020, there were about 1,000 more apparent opioid-related toxicity deaths than hospitalizations.¹⁷

Other opioid-related hospitalizations (excluding Quebec) include 6,185 hospitalizations for adverse drug reactions from prescribed opioids and 10,082 hospitalizations for opioid use disorders between April 2018 and March 2019.¹⁸

2.3 EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES RESPONSES

During the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic (April 2020 to March 2021), there were almost 32,000 Emergency Medical Services (EMS) responses to suspected opioid overdoses, based on available data from eight provinces and territories, according to the Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses.¹⁹ Many regions of Canada recorded more EMS responses to suspected opioid overdoses during each quarter since the start of the pandemic than in any other quarter since the beginning of national surveillance in 2017.²⁰

2.4 EFFECT ON NATIONAL LIFE EXPECTANCY

From 2016 to 2017, for the first time in decades, life expectancy at birth in Canada did not increase for either males or females. Statistics Canada determined that this stagnation was largely a result of accidental drug poisoning deaths among young adult men (particularly in British Columbia and Alberta, which saw decreases in life expectancy), which offset life expectancy gains in other areas. Opioid-related accidental drug poisoning deaths led to a 0.11-year (40 days) loss of life expectancy for men.²¹

From 2017 to 2018, female life expectancy at birth increased from 84.0 to 84.1 years, while male life expectancy at birth remained unchanged. Again, Statistics Canada reported that the stagnation in male life expectancy was a result of an increase in mortality between ages 25 and 45 years, which was "likely related" to the opioid crisis.²²

2.5 USE OF PRESCRIPTION OPIOIDS

The 2018 Canadian Community Health Survey estimated that 12.7% of Canadians aged 15 years and older reported prescription or non-prescription use of pain medications containing opioids in the last year.²³ Other surveys have also found

that a considerable percentage of Canadians have recently used prescription opioids, although precise figures vary.²⁴

Opioid prescribing in Canada has declined in recent years. According to the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), the proportion of people in the study population who were prescribed opioids decreased from 14.3% to 12.3% from 2013 to 2018. In addition, during this period, fewer people started opioid therapy; fewer people were prescribed opioids on a long-term basis; people on long-term opioid therapy were prescribed lower doses; and more people stopped long-term opioid therapy. The dosage and duration of therapy among people starting opioids remained relatively stable.²⁵ These trends coincide with numerous initiatives intended to reduce the harms associated with prescription opioid use, some of which are mentioned in this HillStudy, although it is difficult to attribute these trends to any particular initiative. A revised guideline on prescribing opioids for chronic non-cancer pain was released in 2017, but the CIHI data likely do not reflect the full impact of the new guideline because of lag time in prescriber education.²⁶

Still, Canadians are among the world's largest consumers of prescription opioids. The International Narcotics Control Board reported that, between 2017 and 2019, the countries reporting the highest average consumption of the main six opioid analgesics for pain management (codeine, fentanyl, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, morphine and oxycodone), were the United States, Germany, Austria, Belgium and Canada.²⁷

2.6 PREVALENCE OF FENTANYL AND FENTANYL ANALOGUES

Fentanyl is a very potent opioid. It can be dispensed by prescription, although other opioids are prescribed more often.²⁸ It is also present on the illegal market, where it is frequently added to other substances such as heroin.²⁹ Fentanyl was the most common opioid detected among drug samples seized by law enforcement and analyzed by Health Canada's Drug Analysis Service in 2020.³⁰

In 2016, there were more non-fentanyl opioid deaths than fentanyl-related opioid deaths. Since then, opioid-related deaths involving fentanyl have become more prevalent than non-fentanyl deaths. By 2020, there were 3.5 times more deaths involving fentanyl than those involving non-fentanyl opioids.³¹

2.7 NALOXONE DISTRIBUTION AND USE

Naloxone is a drug used to temporarily reverse the effects of an opioid overdose. It can be administered by anyone who encounters an individual suspected of overdosing on an opioid. Take-home naloxone kits are available without a prescription at most pharmacies and local health authorities in Canada.³²

An environmental scan developed by the Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse, released in June 2019, found that more than 590,000 publicly funded naloxone kits had been distributed across more than 8,700 distribution sites in Canada, and more than 61,000 kits had reportedly been used to reverse an overdose.³³

2.8 ECONOMIC IMPACTS

The Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Working Group estimated that opioid use cost Canadians over \$5.9 billion in 2017. Lost productivity accounted for the majority of these costs (over \$4.2 billion), followed by criminal justice costs (over \$944 million), health costs (over \$438 million), and other direct costs, including research and prevention, employee assistance programs and workplace drug testing, among others (over \$320 million).³⁴

3 COVID-19 AND THE OPIOID CRISIS

Fentanyl consumption appeared to increase in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic, based on a Statistics Canada analysis of data from wastewater samples from treatment plants in five cities (Halifax, Montréal, Toronto, Edmonton and Vancouver). Wastewater fentanyl loads per capita were similar to pre-pandemic levels in April 2020, but nearly twice as high in May 2020 and close to three times higher in June and July 2020.³⁵

Opioid-related harms also increased during the pandemic. As stated above, there were approximately 6,306 apparent opioid toxicity deaths in Canada in 2020, representing a 71% increase over 2019 and a 43% increase over 2018 data.³⁶ There were also 5,240 opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations in Canada in 2020 (a 16% increase compared to 2019 and a 4% increase over 2018). In British Columbia, there were 17,011 EMS responses in 2020 (a 26% and a 27% increase over 2019 and 2018, respectively).³⁷

In a June 2021 statement, the co-chairs of the Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses concluded that

[a] number of factors have likely contributed to a worsening of the opioid overdose crisis during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada, including the increasingly toxic and unpredictable drug supply; increased feelings of isolation, stress, anxiety and depression; and the limited availability or accessibility of health and social services for people who use drugs, including life-saving harm reduction and treatment.³⁸

A Public Health Agency of Canada simulation model released in June 2021 indicates that the number of opioid-related deaths may remain high or even increase throughout the remainder of 2021.³⁹

4 RECOGNIZING DIVERSE EXPERIENCES

Each individual's experience with opioids is influenced by multiple factors, including social determinants of health such as income, housing and access to health care. Some groups of people who use opioids are more likely than others to experience adverse health and social outcomes. To illustrate that the opioid crisis affects different groups of people in different ways, some statistics on opioid-related harms disaggregated by selected identity factors are presented below.

4.1 AGE

Rates of opioid-related harms appear to differ across age groups, as shown in Figure 3. The highest proportion of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths since 2016 has consistently been among those individuals aged 30 to 39 years. The highest proportion of hospitalizations since 2016 has been among those people aged over 60 years each year.⁴⁰







Source: Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths by age group in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Jun)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 1 December 2021.

Disaggregated data reveal additional age-based differences. For instance, in 2020, individuals aged between 30 and 39 years made up a larger proportion of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths involving fentanyl compared to deaths involving non-fentanyl opioids.⁴¹

Opioid-related data may also be disaggregated by age in combination with other identity factors, such as sex, to reveal intersectional trends.⁴²

4.2 SEX AND GENDER

In 2020, 76% of people who died due to accidental apparent opioid toxicity in Canada were male, remaining almost unchanged in the first half of 2021.⁴³ While 63% of total hospitalizations for *accidental* opioid-related poisonings were among males,⁴⁴ females made up 55% of hospitalizations for *intentional* opioid-related poisonings in 2020.⁴⁵

Sex and gender differences in accidental apparent opioid-related deaths are not the same among all population groups in all regions. Among First Nations people in Alberta, for example, males and females were almost equally represented among accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths from 2016 to 2018.⁴⁶ However, the proportion of deaths occurring among males increased to 66% in the first six months of 2020.⁴⁷

Opioid-related behaviors and outcomes differ by gender and sex in other complex ways. For instance, people of different sexes and genders who are hospitalized for reasons related to their opioid use may also face different mental health challenges.⁴⁸

4.3 INDIGENOUS IDENTITY

Many national statistics on opioids are not disaggregated by Indigenous identity. However, available data indicate that in many parts of Canada, Indigenous communities have been disproportionately harmed by opioids. For instance:

- A Statistics Canada analysis of hospital discharge data from 2011 to 2016, linked to data from the 2011 National Household Survey, revealed elevated rates of opioid-related hospitalizations among people who identified as Indigenous. The age-standardized rate of opioid poisoning hospitalizations among First Nations individuals living on reserve was 5.6 times higher than the rate among the non-Indigenous population. The rates among Métis and Inuit were each 3.2 times higher than the rate among the non-Indigenous population.
- In Alberta, a report of the Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre and Alberta Health found that First Nations people experienced 22% of all opioid poisoning deaths in the first six months of 2020, despite comprising only about 6% of the province's population. The rate of accidental apparent

opioid poisoning deaths per 100,000 population was seven times higher among First Nations people compared to non–First Nations people during this period.⁵⁰

• In British Columbia, a First Nations Health Authority report revealed that First Nations people experienced 14.7% of all drug toxicity deaths in 2020, despite comprising only 3.3% of the province's population. First Nations women died of drug toxicity at 9.9 times the rate of other women in the province, while First Nations men died at 4.3 times the rate of other men.⁵¹

These figures should be interpreted in the appropriate social and historical context. Many systemic factors are relevant to opioid use in First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities, including intergenerational trauma and economic inequities created by the residential school system and other forms of colonization.⁵² First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities also have diverse strengths and cultural resources that help to support good health. Indigenous governments and organizations have developed initiatives that take advantage of their community's strengths to address the opioid crisis and other substance use and mental health issues.⁵³

5 FEDERAL RESPONSE TO THE OPIOID CRISIS

5.1 FEDERAL JURISDICTION OVER HEALTH MATTERS

Health is an area of shared jurisdiction in Canada. Sections 91 and 92 of the *Constitution Act, 1867* assign exclusive legislative authority over certain matters to either the federal or provincial legislatures.⁵⁴ These sections list some health-related matters (e.g., hospitals, other than marine hospitals, are a provincial matter). However, the constitution does not explicitly assign legislative power over health as a whole. As a result, health-related measures can fall within the jurisdiction of either the federal or provincial legislatures, depending on each measure's purpose and effect.⁵⁵

Provincial legislatures have exercised their jurisdiction over health matters under sections 92(7) (hospitals), 92(13) (property and civil rights) and 92(16) (matters of a merely local or private nature) of the *Constitution Act, 1867*. Generally, these last two sections grant the provinces jurisdiction over health care services, the practice of medicine, the training of health professionals and the regulation of the medical profession, hospital and health insurance, and occupational health.⁵⁶ Provincial and territorial governments are thus responsible for delivering most substance use prevention, treatment and harm reduction programs.

The Parliament of Canada has exercised its jurisdiction over health matters under its criminal law power (section 91(27) of the *Constitution Act, 1867*), its spending power (inferred from federal jurisdiction over public debt and property (section 91(1A)), and its general taxing power (section 91(3)). Federal legislation respecting opioids includes, for example, the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (CDSA) and the

Food and Drugs Act. The spending power enables federal initiatives in health research, health promotion, health information, and disease prevention and control, as well as pilot projects related to provincial health initiatives.⁵⁷

Additionally, the federal government directly funds or provides substance use prevention, treatment and harm reduction services to specific populations, such as First Nations and Inuit, members of the military and veterans, and people in federal prisons.⁵⁸

5.2 RESPONSE FROM THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

The federal government has made investments and launched initiatives aimed at preventing and responding to opioid-related harms.⁵⁹ Some federal initiatives, for example, include efforts to restrict opioid marketing and advertising,⁶⁰ a consultation on a proposal to develop new regulations for supervised consumption sites,⁶¹ and the development, in collaboration with the United States, of a Joint Action Plan on Opioids.⁶² The federal government has also had a series of national drug strategies since 1987; the most recent strategy was announced in 2016.⁶³ More recently, the Government of Canada has taken some actions to support individuals who use opioids and other substances during the COVID-19 pandemic, such as allowing provinces and territories to establish new temporary supervised consumption sites.⁶⁴

5.3 RESPONSE FROM THE PARLIAMENT OF CANADA

Parliament has also taken steps to address the opioid crisis in recent years. In 2016, the House of Commons Standing Committee on Health studied the opioid crisis in Canada and made 38 recommendations, calling for action in the areas of national leadership, harm reduction, prescribing, treatment, mental health supports, data collection, law enforcement, border security and supports for First Nations communities.⁶⁵ The federal government subsequently tabled its response to the report, in which it listed several commitments to action by federal and provincial governments, as well as stakeholder groups.⁶⁶ In its response, the federal government highlighted that the Governor in Council had issued an order to amend Schedule IV of the CDSA to control certain chemicals used to produce fentanyl, which will help to interrupt the illegal supply of the substance. The response also pointed to some bills before parliament, which have subsequently come into force.

Bill C-37, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related amendments to other Acts, was introduced in December 2016 and received Royal Assent in May 2017. The bill amended the CDSA in part to simplify the application procedure for supervised consumption sites.⁶⁷ As well, the federal government supported Bill C-224, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (assistance – drug overdose), also known as the Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act, which received Royal Assent in May 2017.⁶⁸ Bill C-224 established an exemption from charges of simple possession of a controlled substance, as well as some

other charges related to simple possession, for individuals who call 911 for themselves or another person experiencing an overdose, and for other people at the scene.

Several other bills related to opioid use died on the *Order Paper* at the dissolution of the 43rd Parliament:

- Bill C-22, An Act to amend the Criminal Code and the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act;⁶⁹
- Bill C-235, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make consequential amendments to other Acts;⁷⁰
- Bill C-236, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (evidence-based diversion measures);⁷¹ and
- Bill C-286, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to enact the Expungement of Certain Drug-related Convictions Act and the National Strategy on Substance Use Act.⁷²

Parliamentarians have also responded to the opioid crisis using other elements of the parliamentary toolkit, for example, by proposing motions, tabling petitions and asking questions in Parliament. Some of these initiatives have called on the Government of Canada to declare the opioid crisis a national public health emergency under the *Emergencies Act*, to develop a pan-Canadian overdose action plan, to decriminalize simple possession and to pursue legal action against opioid manufacturers, among other measures.⁷³

NOTES

- 1. World Health Organization, <u>Opioid overdose</u>, 4 August 2020.
- 2. Government of Canada, "About opioids," Opioids.
- 3. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), <u>Pan-Canadian Trends in the Prescribing of Opioids and</u> <u>Benzodiazepines, 2012 to 2017</u>, Chartbook, June 2018, p. 8.
- 4. Government of Canada, "Long-term health effects," Opioids.
- 5. Government of Canada, <u>Problematic Opioid Use (fact sheet)</u>.
- 6. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, "<u>Prescription Opioids</u>," *Canadian Drug Summary*, July 2020.
- 7. Government of Canada, <u>Opioid overdose</u>.

11. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of total apparent opioid toxicity deaths involving stimulants in Canada, 2018 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 September 2021.

Lisa Belzak and Jessica Halverson, "Evidence synthesis – The opioid crisis in Canada: a national perspective," Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC), Vol. 38, No. 6, June 2018.

^{9.} Ibid.

^{10.} Government of Canada, "Key Findings," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.

- 12. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Number of suicide apparent opioid toxicity deaths in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- Government of Canada, "Maps: Number and rates (per 100,000 population) of total apparent opioid toxicity deaths by province and territory in 2020," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada* (*December 2021*), Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 1 December 2021 (select "2020" from the drop-down menu).
- Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths by origin of the opioid(s) directly contributing to death, among deaths with completed investigations only in Canada, 2018 to 2021 (Jan to June)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 6 January 2022.
- 15. Government of Canada, "Key Findings," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 6 January 2022.
- 16. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Number of total opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to June)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 6 January 2022.
- 17. "Opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations" refers to the number of discharged inpatient hospitalization visits, rather than the number of individual patients. This national count of opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations does not include data from Quebec.
- 18. Government of Canada, <u>Opioid-related harms and mental disorders in Canada: A descriptive analysis of hospitalization data</u>. These figures refer to the number of acute inpatient hospitalizations, not the number of patients, and it is possible that some individuals may have been hospitalized more than once during this period. Additionally, an individual may be hospitalized for an opioid-related poisoning and an opioid use disorder at the same time, as illustrated by the fact that the number of total hospitalizations for opioid-related harms is lower than the sum of hospitalizations for individual harms. Furthermore, opioid use disorder hospitalizations are likely undercounted. For more analysis, see Government of Canada, Understanding a broader range of opioid-related hospitalizations in Canada.
- 19. Government of Canada, "Key Findings," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- 20. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Number of EMS responses to suspected opioid-related overdoses by quarter in British Columbia, 2017 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021. There is no national case definition for Emergency Medical Services (EMS) responses to suspected opioid-related overdoses. This national count of EMS responses to suspected opioid overdoses does not include data from Quebec, Prince Edward Island or Nunavut. Data from British Columbia include EMS responses to suspected overdoses related to all "illicit drugs," which are not limited to opioids.
- 21. Statistics Canada, "Changes in life expectancy by selected causes of death, 2017," The Daily, 30 May 2019.
- 22. Statistics Canada, "Life tables, 2016/2018," The Daily, 28 January 2020.
- 23. Statistics Canada, *Pain relief medication containing opioids, 2018*, Health fact sheets, 25 June 2019. This estimate excludes the territories. The Canadian Community Health Survey does not survey on reserves.
- 24. For information about other surveys of past-year prescription opioid use, see Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, *Prescription Opioids (Canadian Drug Summary)*, 2020.
- CIHI, <u>Opioid Prescribing in Canada: How Are Practices Changing</u>, 2019, p. 5. The study population was composed of people who filled prescriptions at community pharmacies in Ontario, Saskatchewan and British Columbia from 2013 to 2018, and in Manitoba from 2016 to 2018.
- 26. Ibid., p. 7.
- International Narcotics Control Board, <u>Narcotic Drugs 2020: Estimated World Requirements for 2021 –</u> <u>Statistics for 2019</u>, p. 51. More information about the concept of defined daily doses for statistical purposes, see ibid., pp. 160–161.
- CIHI, "Figure 2: Top 6 opioids by defined daily doses dispensed per year, Canada, 2012 to 2017," <u>Pan-Canadian Trends in the Prescribing of Opioids and Benzodiazepines, 2012 to 2017</u>, Chartbook, June 2018, p. 8.
- 29. Government of Canada, <u>Fentanyl</u>.

- Government of Canada, <u>Drug analysis Service: Summary report of samples analyzed in 2020</u>. The Drug Analysis Service analyzes some, not all, drugs seized by law enforcement.
- 31. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of total apparent opioid toxicity deaths by type of opioids in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- 32. Government of Canada, <u>Naloxone</u>.
- 33. Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse, <u>Naloxone Distribution Environmental Scan</u>. The time period assessed by this environmental scan differs across provinces and territories, due to variations in the dates when naloxone programs were first launched and the dates when data were reported.
- 34. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group, <u>Canadian Substance Use Costs</u> <u>and Harms 2015–2017</u>, 2020, p. 10. See also Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, <u>How to</u> <u>use the CSUCH Visualization Tool</u>. These estimates do not include certain health-related costs in Quebec. Data required to calculate lost productivity in Yukon were not available at the time of writing.
- 35. Statistics Canada, "<u>Wastewater analysis suggests that consumption of fentanyl, cannabis and</u> <u>methamphetamine increased in the early pandemic period</u>," *The Daily*, 26 July 2021.
- 36. It should be noted that the number of opioid-related deaths in 2019 was lower than the previous three years.
- Government of Canada, "Graphs: Number of EMS responses to suspected opioid-related overdoses in British Columbia, 2017 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada* (September 2021), Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- 38. Dr. Theresa Tam and Dr. Jennifer Russell, <u>Joint Statement from the Co-Chairs of the Special Advisory</u> <u>Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses – Latest Modelling Projections on Opioid Related Deaths</u> <u>and National Data on the Overdose Crisis</u>, PHAC, 23 June 2021.
- 39. Government of Canada, Modelling opioid-related deaths during the COVID-19 outbreak.
- 40. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of total opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations by age group, in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to June)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 6 January 2022.
- 41. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths by type of opioids and age group in Canada, 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- For example, see Lisa Belzak and Jessica Halverson, "Evidence synthesis The opioid crisis in Canada: a national perspective," Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada, PHAC, Vol. 38, No. 6, June 2018, p. 226.
- 43. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of accidental apparent opioid toxicity deaths by sex in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to June)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (December 2021)*, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 6 January 2022.
- 44. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of accidental opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations by sex, in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Database, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021.
- 45. Government of Canada, "Graphs: Percentage of intentional opioid-related poisoning hospitalizations by sex, in Canada, 2016 to 2021 (Jan to Mar)," *Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada (September 2021)*, Database, Public Health Infobase, Database, accessed 19 October 2021. For most provinces and territories, data on the sex of the individual was based on biological characteristics or legal documentation. In Ontario, as of May 2017, the perceived or projected identity of the individual was reported. In Alberta, sex data is based on the medical examiner's assessment, although the medical examiner may indicate the individual's gender when it is known.
- 46. The Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre and Alberta Health, <u>Alberta Opioid Response</u> <u>Surveillance Report: First Nations People in Alberta</u>, December 2019, p. 5.
- 47. The Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre and Alberta Health, <u>Alberta Opioid Response</u> <u>Surveillance Report: First Nations People in Alberta</u>, June 2021, p. 11.
- 48. Government of Canada, <u>Opioid-related harms and mental disorders in Canada: A descriptive analysis of</u> <u>hospitalization data</u>.

- 49. Gisèle Carrière, Rochelle Garner and Claudia Sanmartin, <u>"Social and economic characteristics of those experiencing hospitalizations due to opioid poisonings</u>," *Health Reports*, Statistics Canada, Vol. 29, No. 10, 17 October 2018, pp. 25–26. "Age-standardized rates" are used to compare rates between populations while accounting for differences in the age structure of the populations. See Statistics Canada, *Age-standardized Rates*.
- 50. Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre and Alberta Health, <u>Alberta Opioid Response</u> <u>Surveillance Report: First Nations People in Alberta</u>, June 2021, pp. 3–4.
- 51. First Nations Health Authority, *First Nations Toxic Drug Deaths Doubled During the Pandemic in 2020*, News release, 27 May 2021.
- 52. See, for example, Assembly of First Nations, <u>First Nations Health Priorities to Reducing Problematic</u> <u>Opioid Use: A First Nations Specific Opioid Strategy</u>, Discussion document, p. 10; Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, <u>Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future: Summary of the Final Report of</u> <u>the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada</u>, 2015, p. 145; and House of Commons, Standing Committee on Health (HESA), <u>Evidence</u>, 25 October 2016, 0845 (Chief Isadore Day, Ontario Regional Chief, Assembly of First Nations).
- 53. See, for example, Thunderbird Partnership Foundation et al., <u>Honouring Our Strengths: A Renewed</u> <u>Framework to Address Substance Use Issues Among First Nations People in Canada</u>.
- 54. Constitution Act, 1867, 30 & 31 Victoria, c. 3 (U.K.).
- Marlisa Tiedemann, <u>The Canada Health Act: An Overview</u>, Publication no. 2019-54-E, Library of Parliament, 17 December 2019. For more detail, see Martha Butler and Marlisa Tiedemann, <u>The Federal Role in</u> <u>Health and Health Care</u>, Publication no. 2011-91-E, Library of Parliament, 20 September 2013.
- 56. Ibid.
- 57. Ibid.
- 58. See, for example, Government of Canada, Substance use treatment centres for First Nations and Inuit.
- 59. Government of Canada, Federal actions on opioids to date, June 2021.
- 60. Government of Canada, <u>Restricting the Marketing and Advertising of Opioids</u>.
- 61. Health Canada, <u>Consultation to inform proposed new regulations for supervised consumption sites and</u> services: Closed Consultation.
- 62. Government of Canada, <u>Canada–United States Statement on Joint Action Plan on Opioids</u>.
- 63. Government of Canada, <u>The New Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy</u>, Backgrounder.
- 64. Government of Canada, <u>Helping people who use substances during the COVID-19 pandemic</u>.
- 65. HESA, <u>Report and Recommendations on the Opioid Crisis in Canada</u>, Sixth report, December 2016.
- 66. The Honourable Jane Philpott, Minister of Health, <u>Government Response to the Report of the House of</u> <u>Commons Standing Committee on Health Report Entitled Report and Recommendations on the Opioid</u> <u>Crisis in Canada</u>.
- 67. <u>Bill C-37, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related amendments</u> to other Acts, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session. See also Robin MacKay and Marlisa Tiedemann, Legislative Summary of Bill C-37: An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related amendments to other Acts, Publication no. 42-1-C37-E, Library of Parliament, 17 March 2017.
- Bill C-224, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (assistance drug overdose), 42nd Parliament, 1st Session.
- Bill C-22, An Act to amend the Criminal Code and the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session.
- 70. <u>Bill C-235, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make consequential</u> <u>amendments to other Acts</u>, 43rd Parliament, 1st Session.
- 71. <u>Bill C-236, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (evidence-based diversion</u> <u>measures)</u>, 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session.
- 72. <u>Bill C-286, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to enact the Expungement of Certain Drug-related Convictions Act and the National Strategy on Substance Use Act, 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session.</u>

73. See, for example, <u>Petition 432-01076 (Health)</u>, presented to the House of Commons on 8 June 2021; and House of Commons, "Opposition Motions," <u>Notice Paper</u>, 4 November 2020.